FILED Court of Appeals Division III

State of Washington

Court 2/28/2019 11:21 AM ton

Division Three

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Global Neighborhood, et al., Respondent

V.

Respect Washington, Appellant and Petitioner

And

VICKY DALTON, SPOKANE COUNTY AUDITOR, in her official capacity; and the CITY OF SPOKANE,

Respondents.

Petition for Review

Richard M. Stephens Attorneys for Appellant and Petitioner, Respect Washington

96903-5

STEPHENS & KLINGE LLP 601 108th Avenue NE, Suite 1900 Bellevue, WA 98004 425-453-6206

I. Identity of Petitioner

Petitioner Respect Washington is the sponsor of Proposition 1, an initiative to the City of Spokane. Respondents Global Neighborhood, *et al.* (collectively "Global Neighborhood") sued Respect Washington, the City and the County Auditor to prohibit the citizens from voting on Proposition 1. Respect Washington asks this Court to review the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review as designated in Part II of this Petition.

II. Decision of the Court of Appeals

Respect Washington seeks review of the January 29, 2019 Court of Appeals decision in *Glob. Neigh. v. Respect Wash.*, No. 35528-4-III, 2019 Wash. App. LEXIS 234, ¶¶ 62–66, 75–100 (Ct. App. Jan. 29, 2019) (Decision). A copy of the Decision is attached hereto as Appendix A.

III. Issues Presented for Review

- I. Did the Court of Appeals err in interpreting precedents of this Court as giving inadequate guidance on whether an initiative is legislative or administrative in nature, and should this Court clarify these precedents?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that pre-election review of an initiative for conformity with state or federal law is permissible under this Court's precedents?
- 3. Did the Court of Appeals err by holding that a ballot initiative that forbids racial profiling somehow is invalid because it allows racial profiling?

- 4. Did the Court of Appeals err by holding that Plaintiffs' showing of injury to support standing was sufficient injury to support injunctive relief?
- 5. Did the Court of Appeals err in concluding there was no statute of limitations for a pre-election challenge to an initiative?
- 6. Did the Court of Appeals err in concluding that the First Amendment provides no protection for the voters of the City to express their views at the polls, whether in criticism or support, regarding an issue of public controversy?

IV. Statement of the Case

On October 20, 2014, the Spokane City Council enacted Ordinance C-35164, creating the former Spokane Municipal Code ("SMC") section 3.40.040, entitled "Biased-Free Policing." This provision prohibited the Spokane Police from relying on a number of factors (including "citizenship status") in initiating law enforcement action. *Id.*

A week later, on October 27, 2014, the Spokane City Council enacted Ordinance C-35167. This ordinance is titled "Immigrant Status Information" and created the former SMC 3.10.050. *Id.* Ordinance C-35167 prohibited city employees from inquiring about the immigration status of any person; prohibited police officers from inquiring about immigration status unless there was a reasonable suspicion that the person had been previously deported; and prohibited the police from detaining aliens because of immigration status. *Id.*

On November 26, 2014, Respect Washington, submitted a proposed

Ordinance C-35167 and would amend Ordinance C-35164 to eliminate citizenship status from the list of factors the Spokane police are prohibited from using to profile suspects, while retaining all of the other prohibitions in that list, including race and national origin. While thus prohibiting racial profiling, the proposed initiative would also remove the restriction banning city employees from asking about the immigration status of a person.

On December 9, 2015, the Spokane County auditor certified that the requisite number of signatures had been submitted for the initiative. On February 22, 2016, the Spokane City Council voted to place this initiative on the November 7, 2017, ballot, where it became Proposition 1. Global Neighborhood waited almost 15 months later until May 3, 2017, to file their complaint challenging the initiative.

On July 27, 2017—seventeen months after Spokane City Council voted to place Proposition 1 on the November 2017 ballot—Global Neighborhood moved for a declaratory judgment that Proposition 1 should not be placed on that ballot. Ultimately, the Superior Court held that Proposition I was beyond the scope of the initiative power because it was administrative in nature. Decision at 16.

Respect Washington appealed the decision of the Superior Court. The Court of Appeals, Division III, applies the two part test in *Citizens for*

Financially Responsible Gov't v. Spokane, 99 Wn.2d 339, 347–48 (1983), and concludes that it weighs in favor of finding Proposition 1 to be legislative and not administrative. Decision at ¶¶ 82–84. Then the Court of Appeals applies a phrase from City of Port Angeles v. Our Water-Our Choice!, 170 Wn.2d 1 (2010), and found that it weighs in favor of finding Proposition 1 to be administrative. Decision at ¶¶ 85–91. Using out-of-state case law about how much weight should be given to the various factors in these Washington cases, the Court of Appeals gives predominate weight to a single factor, and decides that Proposition 1 is administrative and beyond the scope of the initiative power. Id. at ¶¶ 78, 101.

V. Argument

The considerations governing acceptance of review in RAP 13.4(b) apply in this case in that the decision below conflicts with decisions of this Court and other Courts of Appeals, a significant question of law under the First Amendment is involved, and the petition involves issues of substantial public interest. These considerations permeate the argument that follows.

"No constitutional or statutory provision expressly limits the scope of local government initiative in Washington State." Decision at 39.

Washington state case law, however, limits the local initiative power to legislative matters to the exclusion of purely administrative matters.

Spokane Entrepreneurial Ctr. v. Spokane Moves to Amend the Constitution,

185 Wn.2d 97, 107 (2016).

The case law on the legislative-administrative distinction has become notably unclear, to the point where, in the hands of the Court of Appeals, it provides no real guidance in this case. This Court should accordingly grant review to clarify its precedents on the proper test for whether an initiative is legislative or administrative in nature. This Court should also grant review to clarify its precedents on another point: whether pre-election review of an initiative for conformity with state and federal law is permissible. However this Court decides the latter issue, it also should correct the Court of Appeals' egregiously erroneous conclusion that a ballot initiative that bans racial profiling is illegal for allowing it.

A. This petition presents this Court with an opportunity to issue muchneeded clarification on whether an initiative is legislative and within the scope of the initiative power or administrative and beyond that scope.

As illustrated in the decision below, the application of the judicially created principle that a ballot measure must be legislative, rather than administrative, has resulted in a smorgasbord of factors that arise from the unique facts of each case to be weighed against each other with no longer a clear governing standard. In this case, the Court of Appeals lists nine questions the legislative—administrative distinction raises, and concluded that Washington State case law only "partially" answers those questions. Decision at 42-43. Failing to find adequate guidance in this Court's

precedents, the Court of Appeals relies on Kansas law to decide the issue.1

This Court has repeatedly observed that determining whether an initiative is legislative or administrative is "difficult." *E.g.*, *Spokane Entrepreneurial Ctr.*, 185 Wn.2d at 107. This difficulty is compounded by the variety of rules that courts have applied. In *Citizens for Financially Responsible Gov't v. Spokane*, this Court reaffirmed two tests for determining whether an initiative is legislative or administrative:

(1) "[a]ctions relating to subjects of a permanent and general character are usually regarded as legislative, and those providing for subjects of a temporary and special character are regarded as administrative" and (2) "[t]he power to be exercised is legislative in its nature if it prescribes a new policy or plan."

99 Wn.2d 339, 347–48 (1983) (quoting 5 E. McQuillin, § 16.55, at 194) (numbering added). This is the longstanding two-part test. *See Seattle Bldg. & Constr. Trades Council v. Seattle*, 94 Wn.2d 740, 748 (1980); *Heider v. Seattle*, 100 Wn. 2d 874, 875–76 (1984); *Earle M. Jorgensen Co. v. Seattle*, 99 Wn.2d 861, 865 (1983); *Ruano v. Spellman*, 81 Wn.2d 820, 823 (1973); *Durocher v. King Cty.*, 80 Wn.2d 139, 152–53 (1972).

However, in deciding *City of Port Angeles v. Our Water-Our Choice!*, 170 Wn.2d 1 (2010), this Court used a phrase which seems on its face to suggest a contradictory standard: "a local government action is

¹ *Id.* at 44-45 (citing *City of Witchita v. Kansas Taxpayers Network, Inc.*, 255 Kan. 534, 874 P.2d 667 (1994); *City of Lawrence v. McArdle*, 214 Kan. 862, 522 P.2d 420 (1974)).

administrative if it furthers (*or hinders*) a plan the local government or some power superior to it has previously adopted." *Id.* at 10 (emphasis added). This can be read as contradictory because all measures which change policy on more than temporary basis (which would be clearly legislative) is likely to hinder some previous government activity.

The Court of Appeals applies the *Citizens for Financially Responsible Gov't* standards and concludes that Proposition 1 both is permanent in nature and sets forth a new policy, and thus is clearly legislative by these standards. Decision at 46-47. Then, however, the Court of Appeals relies upon the language in *Our Water-Our Choice!*, that an initiative is administrative if it "hinders" a plan already in place. Decision at 48. The Court of Appeals decides that, because Proposition 1 sought to repeal an ordinance that vastly expanded to the entire city a previous police administrative policy of non-involvement with immigration enforcement, Proposition 1 hinders that plan, and thus is administrative under the "or hinder" language in *Our Water-Our Choice!*. *Id*.

Of course, any initiative that repeals or changes policy would hinder the pre-existing policy. But the reliance on the "or hinder" language is even more attenuated because Proposition 1 does not hinder a plan—it simply removes a restriction from the City code; it does not mandate any different actions by city personnel. This Court could not have intended in *Our Water*-

Our Choice! to ban initiatives that change policies or hinder plans without overruling the longstanding test that initiatives are legislative and not administrative if they change policy.

This new standard seems to constitute a drastic restriction on direct democracy if "hindering" a prior practice disqualifies the proposal from the ballot. For example, any initiative to decriminalize an activity that a city previously had made criminal would "hinder" the city's previously plan. The legalization of cannabis use, the change in a minimum wage, the ban on animal traps all changed and hindered a pre-existing policy and plan.²

By ignoring the traditional test of legislative action, *i.e.*, permanent and policy-based, and elevating the reference to "hindering" a plan, the Court of Appeals ignored the context and rationale of this Court in *Our Water-Our Choice!*. Nonetheless, initiative opponents hold on to the "or hinder" reference in that case because every ballot measure that changes and thereby hinders any existing policy (which meets the traditional standard of being legislative) is now outside the scope of initiatives. The Court of Appeals' reasoning virtually wipes out the initiative process because the imposition of any new policy by the people could be considered to "hinder" a pre-existing policy put in place by elected officials and eliminate direct

²See Initiative 502, Laws of 2013, ch. 3 (legalization of recreational marijuana); Filo Foods, LLC v. City of SeaTac, 183 Wn.2d 770 (2015) (initiative on minimum wage); Citizens for Responsible Wildlife Management v. State, 149 Wn.2d 622 (2003) (initiative banning animal trapping).

democracy in Washington's legal traditions.

The Court of Appeals also takes the "or hinder" language out of context. This Court stated, "Generally speaking, a local government action is administrative if it furthers (or hinders) a plan the local government or some power superior to it has previously adopted." *Our Water-Our Choice!*, 170 Wn.2d at 10 (citing *Ruano*, 81 Wn.2d at 823-24; *Heider*, 100 Wn. 2d at 876). To the extent that hindering an existing policy renders such hindering to be administrative makes perfect sense when referring to a plan that is required by a superior power, which was the case in *Our Water-Our Choice!*. That initiative would have interfered with water plans governed by "detailed state administrative regulations." 170 Wn.2d at 12 (and later citing Department of Health regulations).

Straining to reconcile the traditional test with the "hinder" language, the Court of Appeals observes that "no single act of a governing body is solely legislative or administrative." Decision at 44. The Court of Appeals adds that "[n]o one factor necessarily controls over the others," and cites Kansas law for the proposition that "the weight given to any one factor may be enough under a particular factual situation to decide that a proposed ordinance intrudes too far into a city's administrative arena and thereby becomes administrative in nature." *Id.* Whereupon the Court of Appeals decides that the single phrase from *Our Water-Our Choice!* outweighs the

two historically used factors of permanence versus temporary and policy basis—two factors reaffirmed in *Citizens for Financially Responsible Gov't* arising from deep historical roots. The Court of Appeals concludes that Proposition 1 was administrative apparently on the belief that the parenthetical phrase "or hinder" changes everything. Decision at 48.

The apparent conflict in the law here is obvious. Under *Citizens for* Financially Responsible Gov't, an initiative such as Proposition 1 that puts in place in new policy is legislative. Under Our Water-Our Choice!, however, such an initiative is administrative because the new policy hinders the old policy, even though the initiative here purports only to remove a restriction. That seeming conflict can have unfortunate consequences, and did here. Under the Kansas law-based method that the Court of Appeals uses to reconcile the standards, courts would be compelled to make what would often amount to an arbitrary decision, or, worse, one based on the policy judgments of the court. And Respect Washington recognizes that the subject matter of Proposition 1 is highly controversial. This Court should protect the unbiased reputation of the Court by using the historical standard for determining whether a political proposal is legislative. Because of those same concerns, this Court has clearly stated that "courts should not interfere in the electoral and legislative processes." Seattle Bldg. & Constr. Trades Council, 94 Wn.2d at 746. Either way, the method of reconciliation the

Court of Appeals uses put that court too much in the driver's seat in this case, navigating its difficult terrain without a roadmap. This Court should find a better, more principled way of reconciling these apparently conflicting standards.

B. The Court should clarify whether an initiative may be subjected to pre-election judicial review for conformity with substantive law.

Pre-election judicial review of ballot initiatives is disfavored. *Protect Pub. Health v. Freed*, ____ Wn.2d ____, 430 P.3d 640 (2018). Washington case law points two ways on whether an initiative may be subjected to pre-election judicial review over whether it is consistent with state and federal law. *Compare Coppernoll v. Reed*, 155 Wn.2d 290, 297 (2005) (holding that pre-election challenge to the "substantive invalidity [of an initiative] is not allowed in this state because of the constitutional preeminence of the right of initiative") *with Spokane Entrepreneurial Ctr.*, 185 Wn.2d at 110 (affirming an injunction against a ballot measure that the trial court found was contrary to federal law).

The Court of Appeals circumvents *Coppernoll*'s reaffirmation of the restrictions on pre-election review, and the longstanding precedents on which it is based, by declaring that "[a]n initiative may be administrative in nature if it conflicts with state law's directions to government employees or entities." Decision at 43 and 53 (citing *Seattle Bldg & Construction Trades Council*, 94 Wn.2d at 749). In actuality, however, this Court had held that

the initiative in question in *Seattle Bldg. & Constr. Trades Council*"relate[d] to matters upon which the City has no authority to legislate—
namely, the location and construction of state limited access facilities"—not that is was administrative because it conflicted with law. 94 Wn.2d at 749.

Here, the Court of Appeals holds that Proposition 1 conflicts with the state's prohibitions on racial profiling and providing immigration status information to a court during the plea stage of a criminal proceeding, and, therefore, was administrative in nature. Decision at 54-55. The Court of Appeals so holds even though Proposition 1, which repeals parts of an ordinance enacted by the city and enacts a new policy, clearly addresses matters upon which the City has authority to legislate.

This is not an isolated case of a substantive pre-election review of an initiative by an appellate court. Using different reasoning, but reaching the same result, Division II has interpreted *Spokane Entrepreneurial Ctr.*, 185 Wn.2d at 110, as holding that "the inquiry into whether a measure conflicts with state law is part of determining whether it is beyond the local initiative power." *Port of Tacoma v. Save Tacoma Water*, 4 Wn. App. 2d 562, 571 (2018). True, in *Spokane Entrepreneurial Ctr.*, this Court affirmed a holding that a "provision was outside of the scope of the local initiative power because it directly conflicts with federal and state law," but the reason was "because municipalities cannot strip constitutional rights from

entities and cannot undo decisions of the United States Supreme Court."

185 Wn.2d at 110. This petition presents the opportunity for this Court to clarify whether it has rejected *Coppernoll*'s prohibition on pre-election judicial review of initiatives for compliance with state and federal law, or whether *Spokane Entrepreneurial Ctr.* merely held that municipalities do not have the power to strip constitutional rights from entities.

C. This Court should review the Court of Appeals' illogical conclusion that an initiative that bans racial profiling is invalid because it allows racial profiling.

In any event, the Court of Appeals erroneously found that Proposition 1 conflicts with state and federal law. The Court of Appeals concludes that Proposition 1 conflicts with the ban on racial profiling in RCW 43.101.410, Decision at 53-55. This conclusion is plainly erroneous. Proposition 1 *explicitly* leaves in place the City of Spokane's ban on racial profiling:

B. Spokane Police Department Officers and all officers commissioned under the Spokane Police Department shall be prohibited from engaging in bias-based profiling.

C. Bias-based profiling is defined as an "act of a member of the Spokane Police Department or a law enforcement officer commissioned by the Spokane Police Department that relies on actual or perceived race, national origin, color, creed, age, ((eitizenship status,)) gender, sexual orientation, gender identity, disability, socio-economic status, or housing status

SMC § 3.10.040 (as proposed to be modified by Proposition 1).

Similarly, the Court of Appeals concluded that Proposition 1 conflicts with RCW 10.40.200(1), which indicates no criminal defendant can be required to disclose his or her legal status to the court at the plea stage.

Somehow, the Court of Appeals concludes that "Proposition 1 would place city employees, such as city prosecutors and public defenders, in a situation that conflicts with the statute." Decision at 54. Again, this is plainly erroneous. There is absolutely nothing in Proposition 1 that requires the disclosure of a defendant's immigration status to a court.

In any event, Proposition I is to be read in harmony with state law. "A general law enacted by the Legislature is superior to, and supersedes, all charter provisions inconsistent therewith." *King Cty. v. Taxpayers of King Cty.*, 133 Wn.2d 584, 609 (1997) (quoting *Neils v. City of Seattle*, 185 Wn. 269, 276 (1936)). Thus, even if Proposition 1 conflicts with state law in some of its possible applications, those applications, not the entirety of Proposition 1, would be preempted. Also, Proposition 1 contains a severability clause, according to which any invalidity of some of its applications does not affect its other applications.

Finally, the Court of Appeals' conclusion is essentially an argument that the initiative is beyond the scope of the initiative power because it is substantively illegal. This bootstrapping is exactly what this Court soundly rejected in *Coppernoll*, 155 Wn.2d at 305—the argument that an initiative is beyond the scope of the initiative power because it violates the constitution. The Court should grant review to reaffirm the well-established precedent prohibiting pre-election review on substantive validity of the proposal.

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