# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/29/2019 4:42 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 96903-5

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GLOBAL NEIGHBORHOOD, et al., Respondent,

٧.

RESPECT WASHINGTON, Appellant and Petitioner,

And

VICKY DALTON, SPOKANE COUNTY AUDITOR, in her official capacity; and the CITY OF SPOKANE, Respondents.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Dainen N. Penta, WSBA #33597 Camerina I. Zorrozua, WSBA #36249 Center for Justice 35 West Main Avenue, Suite 300 Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 835-5211

Attorneys for Respondent Global Neighborhood, et al.

####

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

#### a. Proposition 1 is fundamentally administrative in nature.

The local initiative power is limited to legislative matters within the authority of the city. *Spokane Entrepreneurial Ctr., supra,* 185 Wn.2d 97, 107-108. Nonlegislative or administrative matters are outside the scope of the local initiative power. Id. An initiative is administrative in nature "if it furthers (or hinders) a plan the local government previously adopted." *City of Port Angeles v. Our Water-Our Choice!*, 170 Wn.2d 1, 10, 239 P.3d 589. In *Our Water-Our Choice!* this Court found local initiatives related to water fluoridation administrative in nature, because they attempted to interfere with and reverse the City of Port Angeles's existing water fluoridation program, which had been implemented under authority granted to the city by the state legislature. Id. at 15. Similarly, here the police policies and procedures Proposition 1 interferes with are part of a plan previously adopted by the Spokane City Council.

In the instant case, the Court of Appeals did recognize that Proposition 1 is a legislative act insofar as it adopts a permanent rule of government. 7 Wn.App. 2d 354, ¶ 82. Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals held that Proposition 1 is primarily administrative in nature because of its interference with a previously adopted plan that is part of the city's legislative jurisdiction and with Spokane Police Department policy. Id. at ¶ 85-87.

The City of Spokane's legislative authority extends to the administration of the Spokane Police Department, by and through the

Chief of Police. Proposition 1 seeks to impose specific duties upon law enforcement personnel outside of this legislative framework. Proposition 1 therefore directly conflicts with existing municipal codes and with department policy and exceeds the scope of initiative power. An initiative seeking to administer the details of an existing city plan is administrative in nature. *Our Water-Our Choice!* at 13. Like the fluoridation plan in *Our Water-Our Choice!*, here the city's police procedures and policies are an existing plan within the scope of the city's legislative powers, and Proposition 1 attempts to interfere with that plan, "[N]either Article II, Section 1 nor RCW 35A.11.080 encompasses the power to administer the law, and administrative matters, particularly local administrative matters, are not subject to initiative or referendum." Id. at 8.

"The chief of the police division administers the Spokane police department and the police reserve force and has the authority to make rules and issue orders for the proper functioning of the division, consistent with law, council policy and the rules of the civil service commission." SMC 3.10.010(A); SMC 3.10.010(B)(1). Here, while Proposition 1 has a legislative component, the overriding effect is that it is administrative in nature, because it interferes with the administration, management, and policies of of the City's police division. Such power is expressly delegated by Spokane City Council to the Chief of Police, under SMC 3.10.010(A) and (B)(1). Proposition 1 significantly interferes with law enforcement's authority to manage its affairs, potentially compromising community

safety. The Court of Appeals correctly held that Proposition 1 is administrative in nature and is not proper for direct legislation.

#### b. Proposition 1 conflicts with state and federal law.

Local initiatives that conflict with state law are also not within the scope of the initiative power. "While the inhabitants of a municipality may enact legislation governing local affairs, they cannot enact legislation which conflicts with state law." *Spokane Entrepreneurial Ctr. et al.*, *v. Spokane Moves to Amend the Constitution*, 185 Wn.2d 97, 108-109, 369 P.3d 141, 145-146 (2016). In the instant case, the Court of Appeals opinion begins by referencing RCW 43.101.410, which directs local law enforcement agencies to address racial profiling. 7 Wn.App.2d 354, 2019 Wash.App.LEXIS 234, ¶ 8 (See Appendix C). The Court of Appeals ultimately concluded that Proposition 1 conflicts with RCW 43.101.410 (Id. at ¶ 97), and also concluded that Proposition 1 conflicts with federal law which prohibits unwarranted inquiries into immigration status. Id. at ¶ 98-100.

Proposition 1 also directly conflicts with recently-enacted state law. On April 21, 2019, Governor Jay Inslee signed into law Engrossed Second Substitute Senate Bill 5497 into law, known as the "Keep Washington Working Act," adding the following directive to RCW 10.93:

(4) State and local law enforcement agencies may not:

(a) Inquire into or collect information about an individual's immigration or citizenship status, or place of birth unless there is a

connection between such information and an investigation into a violation of state or local criminal law; or

(b) Provide information pursuant to notification requests from federal immigration authorities for the purposes of civil immigration enforcement, except as required by law. Keep Washington Working Act, E2SSB 5497.PL, § 6, 7-8 (2019).

Emphasis added. See Appendix C. Proposition 1 proposes to eliminate "citizenship status" from the definition of bias-based profiling.

Accordingly, Proposition 1 conflicts with the Keep Washington Working Act, and therefore exceeds the scope of the local initiative power.

# B. The petition for review does not raise any valid constitutional questions, and does not indicate this case presents a substantial matter of public interest meriting review by this court.

RAP 13.4(b)(4) confirms that a petition for review will be accepted by this Court "only" if the petition involves an issue of "substantial public interest" that should be determined by the Supreme Court. The petition for review does not explain why this case presents a matter of "substantial public interest," the standard contained in RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Respect Washington's remaining arguments (other than standing and laches, discussed below) reduce to (1) a claim that the law is unclear with respect to courts' authority to engage in limited preelection review of local initiatives, and (2) that the court's preelection review of whether Proposition 1 exceeded the local initiative power has constitutional implications. As discussed in this answer, those arguments fail.

Longstanding authority for preelection judicial review of local initiatives has been discussed extensively above and need not be discussed

here. We next turn to Respect Washington's claim that judicial preelection review in this case raises constitutional questions. It does not. Again, local initiatives derive their authority from powers granted to the local government, whereas statewide initiatives derive authority from the state Constitution. Const. Art. II, § 7.

Established precedent confirms that a court's preelection review, without more, does not infringe on constitutional free speech rights – precedent confirms there is no constitutional right to advance every initiative to the ballot box. *City of Longview v. Wallin*, 174 Wn.App. 763, 790-792. With respect to an initiative, the protected political speech is limited to the circulation of the petition and the collection of signatures. Id. 791-792. In *Wallin*, the Court of Appeals held that a local initiative proposing restrictions on red light traffic cameras was beyond the scope of the local initiative power. Id. at 769. Wallin claimed there, as Respect Washington does here, that preelection judicial review is an impermissible content restriction on speech in a public forum, and that the granting of an injunction infringed on his constitutional rights.

The Wallin court found Wallin's reliance on Coppernoll unpersuasive, finding that "the constitutional preeminence of the right of initiative" not to be at issue with respect to local initiatives, and confirmed that the local powers of initiative do not receive the same vigilant protection as the constitutional powers discussed in Coppernoll. "The First Amendment concern articulated by the Coppernoll court specifically

referred to a substantive preelection challenge to a statute, not a challenge to whether the statute exceeded the scope of initiative power." *Wallin* at 792.

Here, Respect Washington cites no authority that supports its claim that it has an unfettered constitutional right to place invalid measures on the ballot. This claim is not supported by *Wallin* or by other precedent from this Court or the Court of Appeals, confirming invalid initiatives may be barred from the ballot. Id. "[B]arring an initiative from the ballot does not violate the constitution when the initiative lies outside the scope of the local initiative's power." *Id.* at ¶ 65.

Therefore, Respect Washington has failed to show that this case involves a matter of substantial public interest – rather, the Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with established precedent and with the established hierarchy of federal, state, and local laws.

- C. The Court of Appeals properly held that Respondent Global Neighborhood has standing and that the doctrine of laches does not apply.
- 1. This Court's decisions confirm that under existing standards, Global Neighborhood has standing.

It is well established that a litigant must have standing to bring legal claims, or in other words, a person cannot raise the legal rights of another. Spokane Entrepreneurial Ctr. et al., v. Spokane Moves to Amend the Constitution, 185 Wn.2d 97, 103, 369 P.3d 141, 143 (2016). Principles of standing require two things: first, that the interest sought to be protected must be "arguably within the zone of interests to be protected or regulated"

by the statute or constitutional guarantee in question," and second, that the challenged action must have caused "injury in fact," whether economic or otherwise, to the party seeking standing. Id.

Spokane Entrepreneurial Ctr. involved a preelection challenge to the validity of a City of Spokane initiative, brought by Spokane County and other business and industry groups as a declaratory relief action. This Court considered the initiative at issue en banc, and reversed the Court of Appeals, confirming that a party seeking a declaratory judgment need not meet any special or heightened standing requirements. "[W]e reverse and adhere to our existing standards because they adequately ensure that only those affected by an ordinance may challenge it." Id. at 100. This Court further stated, "[W]e believe the concerns regarding preelection review of initiatives are properly addressed by our limits on the types of challenges that courts will review prior to elections." Id. This Court further stated, "we have not required challengers to local initiatives to show that an injury has already occurred. Instead, we have allowed petitioners to show that they would suffer an injury in fact if the law were to pass." Id. at 106.

Here, the Court of Appeals found that Global Neighborhood had organizational standing, met the "zone of interests" test, and demonstrated potential injury if Proposition 1 were to pass. 56-58. Further, Respect Washington had already conceded in Superior Court that Global Neighborhood demonstrated sufficient injury to establish standing. CP 313. Nonetheless, Respect Washington persists in asking this Court to again evaluate the sufficiency of the harm suffered.

This Court need not do so, as confirmed in *Spokane*Entrepreneurial Ctr. "[W]e have not required challengers to local

initiatives to show that an injury has already occurred. Instead, we have allowed petitioners to show that they would suffer an injury if in fact the law were to pass." Id. at 106. Respect Washington cites *Huff v. Wyman*, 184 Wn.2d 643, 361 P.3d 727 (2015) and reiterates its argument that Global Neighborhood failed to show "actual and substantial injury." However, *Huff v. Wyman* involved a statewide initiative, and Global Neighborhood was required only to show potential injury, under the principles articulated by this Court in *Spokane Entrepreneurial Ctr. 185 Wn.2d 97, at* 106.

Respect Washington claims the Court of Appeals "superficially" rejected Division I's analysis from *Am. Traffic Solutions, Inc. v. City of Bellingham*, 163 Wn.App. 427, 260 P.3d 245 (2011). The disposition of *Traffic Solutions* did not, however, rest on standing principles, but instead hinged on the scope of the initiative power, finding that "[b]ecause [the local initiative] is beyond the scope of the initiative power, it is invalid." Id. at 435. The challengers' request for injunctive relief was denied because the City, County, and the auditor did not submit any briefs or take any position on the challengers' claim, so would incur election and ballot costs irrespective of the court's ruling. Id. at 435, fn. 1. The Court found that the proposed initiative, prohibiting the city from installing traffic cameras, would "have no legal force" because it was invalid, and that in that case there would be no "actual and substantial injury" to ATS's contractual interests. Id.

Here, the interests involved are significantly different from the solely pecuniary interests at issue in *Traffic Solutions*. The Court of Appeals concluded that "at least one of the plaintiff organizations has

standing on its own right and through its members" and that the City of Spokane's standing alone would allow the suit to proceed. Specifically, the Court of Appeals (correctly) held that Global Neighborhood had demonstrated harm, or the potential harm, in contrast to the challengers in *Traffic Solutions*. *Global Neighborhood*, 7 Wn.App. 354 ¶¶ 56-58. Notably, Respect Washington conceded standing in the trial court (CP 313), and it is therefore unclear why Respect Washington continues to argue such threshold issues such as standing, which were properly disposed of and have no bearing on whether this Court should accept review.

2. Respect Washington failed to demonstrate the application of the laches doctrine is appropriate, because it has not suffered any harm as a result of delays inherent in the appellate review process.

The doctrine of laches is an implied waiver arising from the knowledge of existing conditions and acquiescence in them. *Buell v. City of Bremerton*, 80 Wn.2d 518, 522, 495 P.2d 1358 (1972). One who relies on a laches defense bears the burden of proving (1) knowledge (or reasonable opportunity to discover) of a cause of action against a defendant, (2) an unreasonable delay by plaintiff in commencing the cause of action, and (3) damage to the defendant resulting from the unreasonable delay. *King County v. Taxpayers of King County*, 133 Wn.2d 584, 642, 949 P.2d 1260 (1997). Here, the Court of Appeals held that it could not assess the reasonableness of the fact that Global Neighborhood filed suit more than a year after the Spokane City Council placed Proposition 1 on the ballot, and for purposes of appeal, assumed unreasonable delay.

Global Neighborhood, 2019 Wash.App. LEXIS 234, ¶ 47. However, the Court of Appeals found no harm to Respect Washington resulting from delays inherent to the appellate review process. Id. Respect Washington fails to cite any authority for its assertion that a delay in appellate review constitutes harm for purposes of laches, and failed to seek accelerated review in the Court of Appeals. Id. at ¶ 50-51. This Court should also decline to apply the doctrine of laches, which was properly disposed of by the Court of Appeals.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

Respect Washington's petition for review fails to demonstrate that the Court of Appeals' ruling conflicts with any precedent established by this Court or by the Court of Appeals. The petition fails to demonstrate that the Court of Appeals' ruling poses a "significant question of law" under the state or federal constitution, and fails to show that there is an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Therefore, under RAP 13.4 and the authority set forth above, this Court has the discretion to deny review, and Respondent Global Neighborhood respectfully requests that the Court deny review.